
  
HERMISTON PLANNING COMMISSION 

 
Regular Meeting                                         April 13, 2016
   
Chairman Saylor called the meeting to order at 7:00 PM.  Commissioners Flaiz, Caplinger, Erz, Hamm, and 
Doherty, Fialka, and Rebman were present.  Commissioner Medelez was absent.   
 
Minutes 
Minutes of the March 9, 2016 Planning Commission meeting were unanimously approved.  
 
New Business 
Consider an application for a Conditional Use Permit from Mike Walker of HAPO Community Credit 
Union requesting that the City allow the tear down and redevelopment of the existing credit union located at 
175 NE Cornell Place into a drive thru banking facility.  This request is defined as a conditional use.  The 
property is owned by HAPO Community Credit Union.  The property is also described as 4N 28 02C Tax 
Lot 203.  The proposed structure will have three drive-up lanes, two with teller services and one with ATM 
services, and a 572 square foot building with an 850 square foot awning. 
 
Chairman Saylor asked if any commissioners had a conflict of interest.   Hearing none, she read the 
following guidelines: 
 

a. The applicable substantive criteria relied upon by the City in rendering the decision to grant 
the conditional use permit are contained in §157.208 of the Hermiston Code of Ordinances. 

 
b. Testimony and evidence must be directed toward the criteria described above or other criteria 

in the comprehensive plan or land use regulations which the person believes apply to the 
decision. 

 
c. Failure to raise an issue by the close of the record at or following the hearing, in person or by 

letter, precludes appeal to the Land Use Board of Appeals (LUBA) or the city council based 
on that issue. 

 
d. Failure to raise an issue with sufficient specificity to afford the decision maker and the 

parties an opportunity to respond to that issue precludes appeal to LUBA or the city council 
based on that issue. 

 
e. Failure to raise constitutional or other issues relating to proposed conditions of approval with 

sufficient specificity to allow the local government or its designee to respond to the issue 
precludes an action for damages in circuit court. 

 
f. Prior to the conclusion of the evidentiary hearing, any participant may request an opportunity 

to present additional evidence, arguments or testimony regarding the application.  The 
planning commission shall grant such a request by continuing the public hearing pursuant to 
ORS 197.763(6)(B) or leaving the record open for additional written evidence, arguments or 
testimony pursuant to ORS 197.763(6)(C). 

 
For this hearing, the process begins with the staff report, followed by testimony from the applicants 
and any other supporters of the application.  This will be followed by opponents to the application.  
Finally, a rebuttal by the applicant will be allowed.  The public hearing portion of the procedure will 
then be closed, and the planning commission will consider the information and testimony received 
and may render a decision. 



Hermiston Planning Commission      Page 2 of 3                                                             April 13, 2016 
 

 

City Planner Spencer presented the staff report.  
 

Findings of Fact 
 
The proposal is in conformance with the comprehensive plan and zoning code. 
 

1. The property is zoned Outlying Commercial (C-2) and subject to the provisions for uses established 
in 157.042 of the Hermiston Code of Ordinances. 

2. A drive-up facility such as the proposed credit union is a conditional use in the C-2 zone per 
157.041(B)(4) of the Hermiston Code of Ordinances. 

3. The proposed facility is 572 square feet.   
4. A 572 square foot bank facility requires one parking space for every 333 square feet of floor area, or 

two spaces for 572 square feet.  Three spaces, two regular and one ADA accessible space, are 
proposed. 

5. The C-2 zone requires a setback of at least 20 feet from any street and at least 25 feet from any 
adjacent residentially zoned property.  The building and canopy are setback more than 20 feet from 
NE Cornell Pl.  There is no residentially zoned property adjacent to the site along any property line.  
Therefore, no other setbacks are required. 

6. The structure is located outside of the 15 foot vision clearance area required for the driveway 
approaches. 

7. The proposed structure will be 19 feet in height.  This will be well below the maximum height of 50 
feet in the C-2 zone. 

8. All areas for the standing and maneuvering of vehicles are proposed for paving on the site plan in 
conformance with 157.179 of the Hermiston Code of Ordinances. 

The property is adequate in size and shape to accommodate the proposed use, together with all other 
zoning requirements and any additional conditions imposed by the Planning Commission 
 

9. As noted in findings 3, 4, 5, 6, and 7 above, the property is adequate in size and shape to 
accommodate all setback, lot coverage, and parking requirements  

Public facilities are of adequate size and quality to serve the proposed use 
 

10. There are existing public water and sewer lines installed in NE Cornell Pl. 

11. The existing building is connected to water and sewer services.  The new drive-up will reconnect 
using the existing connections. 

12. NE Cornell Pl is fully improved to local commercial standards.  No additional improvements, such 
as sidewalks, are necessary for redevelopment of the site. 

The proposed use will prove reasonably compatible with surrounding properties 
 

13. The proposed building will have a smaller footprint than the existing building while providing a 
similar service to the existing credit union. 

14. The proposed drive up building will provide three lanes for vehicle queuing which will minimize 
congestion as vehicles wait for services.  Approximately 12 to 14 vehicles can wait for services in 
the queuing area provided. 

15. The applicant proposes to install landscaping along the south and east property lines improving street 
aesthetics.   

16. Storm water will be retained in a new landscaped storm water retention swale in the northeast corner 
of the property.  

 



Hermiston Planning Commission      Page 3 of 3                                                             April 13, 2016 
 

 

Staff Recommendation 
Staff has reviewed the conditional use permit application.  The proposed drive-through credit union is a use 
permitted conditionally in the C-2 zone.  It is compatible with the surrounding development and will create 
little impact on the surrounding neighborhood through noise or visual impacts.  Staff recommends that the 
planning commission consider the application materials presented, testimony from the applicant and general 
public at the hearing, and the development’s potential impact on the surrounding neighborhood.  Based 
upon the staff’s review of the application, staff recommends the planning commission approve the 
application for a conditional use permit subject to the draft conditions listed in the staff report and any other 
conditions the planning commission finds necessary to mitigate potential impacts to the neighborhood. 

Subject to the testimony received at the public hearing and deliberations of the planning commission, staff 
recommends that the planning commission impose the following conditions on the request: 

 
1. All areas for the standing and maneuvering of vehicles shall be paved prior to occupancy as shown 

on the site plan. 

2. All storm water drainage shall be retained on-site. 

3. Landscaping shall be installed as shown on the site plan. 

4. Signage shall be installed in accordance with Chapter 155 of the Hermiston Code of Ordinances and 
all vision clearance areas shall be maintained. 

5. Applicant shall comply with all provisions of §92.12 of the Hermiston Code of Ordinances (relating 
to the control of blowing dust) during all phases of development. 

6. Exterior site lighting shall be designed to avoid interference with adjacent properties. 

7. A security plan shall be submitted to the city police department for review and comment prior to 
issuance of a building permit. 

8. Applicant shall increase parking spaces to four total and submit a revised site plan to the City 
Planner for approval. 

 

Mike Walker of HAPO Credit Union- There will primarily be two tellers working, with a maximum of three 
or four employees at any one time.  This would be for a short transition period of employees changing cash 
trays or occasional manager presence.  The operating hours will be from 9am to 6pm.  

Chairman Saylor closed the hearing at 7:20pm. 

Commissioner Hamm moved and Commissioner Flaiz seconded to approve the draft findings as written.  
Motion passed unanimously.  Commissioner Caplinger moved and Commissioner Fialka seconded to 
approve the Conditional Use Permit subject to the revised draft conditions.  Motion passed unanimously. 
 
Planner Comments and Unscheduled Communications 
The ADA compliant sidewalk ramps in unusual locations along HWY 395 is due to federal highway dollars 
being used on the ODOT project.    
 
The livability report has shown that downtown revitalization is a community priority.  Design work on the 
festival street should start in the next fiscal year.  
 
Meeting adjourned at 7:41PM. 



  
HERMISTON PLANNING COMMISSION 

 
Regular Meeting                                         April 13, 2016
   
Chairman Saylor called the meeting to order at 7:00 PM.  Commissioners Flaiz, Caplinger, Erz, Hamm, and 
Doherty, Fialka, and Rebman were present.  Commissioner Medelez was absent.   
 
Minutes 
Minutes of the March 9, 2016 Planning Commission meeting were unanimously approved.  
 
New Business 
Consider an application for a Conditional Use Permit from Mike Walker of HAPO Community Credit 
Union requesting that the City allow the tear down and redevelopment of the existing credit union located at 
175 NE Cornell Place into a drive thru banking facility.  This request is defined as a conditional use.  The 
property is owned by HAPO Community Credit Union.  The property is also described as 4N 28 02C Tax 
Lot 203.  The proposed structure will have three drive-up lanes, two with teller services and one with ATM 
services, and a 572 square foot building with an 850 square foot awning. 
 
Chairman Saylor asked if any commissioners had a conflict of interest.   Hearing none, she read the 
following guidelines: 
 

a. The applicable substantive criteria relied upon by the City in rendering the decision to grant 
the conditional use permit are contained in §157.208 of the Hermiston Code of Ordinances. 

 
b. Testimony and evidence must be directed toward the criteria described above or other criteria 

in the comprehensive plan or land use regulations which the person believes apply to the 
decision. 

 
c. Failure to raise an issue by the close of the record at or following the hearing, in person or by 

letter, precludes appeal to the Land Use Board of Appeals (LUBA) or the city council based 
on that issue. 

 
d. Failure to raise an issue with sufficient specificity to afford the decision maker and the 

parties an opportunity to respond to that issue precludes appeal to LUBA or the city council 
based on that issue. 

 
e. Failure to raise constitutional or other issues relating to proposed conditions of approval with 

sufficient specificity to allow the local government or its designee to respond to the issue 
precludes an action for damages in circuit court. 

 
f. Prior to the conclusion of the evidentiary hearing, any participant may request an opportunity 

to present additional evidence, arguments or testimony regarding the application.  The 
planning commission shall grant such a request by continuing the public hearing pursuant to 
ORS 197.763(6)(B) or leaving the record open for additional written evidence, arguments or 
testimony pursuant to ORS 197.763(6)(C). 

 
For this hearing, the process begins with the staff report, followed by testimony from the applicants 
and any other supporters of the application.  This will be followed by opponents to the application.  
Finally, a rebuttal by the applicant will be allowed.  The public hearing portion of the procedure will 
then be closed, and the planning commission will consider the information and testimony received 
and may render a decision. 



Hermiston Planning Commission      Page 2 of 3                                                             April 13, 2016 
 

 

City Planner Spencer presented the staff report.  
 

Findings of Fact 
 
The proposal is in conformance with the comprehensive plan and zoning code. 
 

1. The property is zoned Outlying Commercial (C-2) and subject to the provisions for uses established 
in 157.042 of the Hermiston Code of Ordinances. 

2. A drive-up facility such as the proposed credit union is a conditional use in the C-2 zone per 
157.041(B)(4) of the Hermiston Code of Ordinances. 

3. The proposed facility is 572 square feet.   
4. A 572 square foot bank facility requires one parking space for every 333 square feet of floor area, or 

two spaces for 572 square feet.  Three spaces, two regular and one ADA accessible space, are 
proposed. 

5. The C-2 zone requires a setback of at least 20 feet from any street and at least 25 feet from any 
adjacent residentially zoned property.  The building and canopy are setback more than 20 feet from 
NE Cornell Pl.  There is no residentially zoned property adjacent to the site along any property line.  
Therefore, no other setbacks are required. 

6. The structure is located outside of the 15 foot vision clearance area required for the driveway 
approaches. 

7. The proposed structure will be 19 feet in height.  This will be well below the maximum height of 50 
feet in the C-2 zone. 

8. All areas for the standing and maneuvering of vehicles are proposed for paving on the site plan in 
conformance with 157.179 of the Hermiston Code of Ordinances. 

The property is adequate in size and shape to accommodate the proposed use, together with all other 
zoning requirements and any additional conditions imposed by the Planning Commission 
 

9. As noted in findings 3, 4, 5, 6, and 7 above, the property is adequate in size and shape to 
accommodate all setback, lot coverage, and parking requirements  

Public facilities are of adequate size and quality to serve the proposed use 
 

10. There are existing public water and sewer lines installed in NE Cornell Pl. 

11. The existing building is connected to water and sewer services.  The new drive-up will reconnect 
using the existing connections. 

12. NE Cornell Pl is fully improved to local commercial standards.  No additional improvements, such 
as sidewalks, are necessary for redevelopment of the site. 

The proposed use will prove reasonably compatible with surrounding properties 
 

13. The proposed building will have a smaller footprint than the existing building while providing a 
similar service to the existing credit union. 

14. The proposed drive up building will provide three lanes for vehicle queuing which will minimize 
congestion as vehicles wait for services.  Approximately 12 to 14 vehicles can wait for services in 
the queuing area provided. 

15. The applicant proposes to install landscaping along the south and east property lines improving street 
aesthetics.   

16. Storm water will be retained in a new landscaped storm water retention swale in the northeast corner 
of the property.  

 



Hermiston Planning Commission      Page 3 of 3                                                             April 13, 2016 
 

 

Staff Recommendation 
Staff has reviewed the conditional use permit application.  The proposed drive-through credit union is a use 
permitted conditionally in the C-2 zone.  It is compatible with the surrounding development and will create 
little impact on the surrounding neighborhood through noise or visual impacts.  Staff recommends that the 
planning commission consider the application materials presented, testimony from the applicant and general 
public at the hearing, and the development’s potential impact on the surrounding neighborhood.  Based 
upon the staff’s review of the application, staff recommends the planning commission approve the 
application for a conditional use permit subject to the draft conditions listed in the staff report and any other 
conditions the planning commission finds necessary to mitigate potential impacts to the neighborhood. 

Subject to the testimony received at the public hearing and deliberations of the planning commission, staff 
recommends that the planning commission impose the following conditions on the request: 

 
1. All areas for the standing and maneuvering of vehicles shall be paved prior to occupancy as shown 

on the site plan. 

2. All storm water drainage shall be retained on-site. 

3. Landscaping shall be installed as shown on the site plan. 

4. Signage shall be installed in accordance with Chapter 155 of the Hermiston Code of Ordinances and 
all vision clearance areas shall be maintained. 

5. Applicant shall comply with all provisions of §92.12 of the Hermiston Code of Ordinances (relating 
to the control of blowing dust) during all phases of development. 

6. Exterior site lighting shall be designed to avoid interference with adjacent properties. 

7. A security plan shall be submitted to the city police department for review and comment prior to 
issuance of a building permit. 

8. Applicant shall increase parking spaces to four total and submit a revised site plan to the City 
Planner for approval. 

 

Mike Walker of HAPO Credit Union- There will primarily be two tellers working, with a maximum of three 
or four employees at any one time.  This would be for a short transition period of employees changing cash 
trays or occasional manager presence.  The operating hours will be from 9am to 6pm.  

Chairman Saylor closed the hearing at 7:20pm. 

Commissioner Hamm moved and Commissioner Flaiz seconded to approve the draft findings as written.  
Motion passed unanimously.  Commissioner Caplinger moved and Commissioner Fialka seconded to 
approve the Conditional Use Permit subject to the revised draft conditions.  Motion passed unanimously. 
 
Planner Comments and Unscheduled Communications 
The ADA compliant sidewalk ramps in unusual locations along HWY 395 is due to federal highway dollars 
being used on the ODOT project.    
 
The livability report has shown that downtown revitalization is a community priority.  Design work on the 
festival street should start in the next fiscal year.  
 
Meeting adjourned at 7:41PM. 






































































